IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CITY OF HOLLYWOOD, et al.,

CASE NO. 96,482

Petitioners,

District Court of Appeal First District - No. 98-03186

vs.

ALBERT LOMBARDI,

Respondent

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

SCOTT J. BROOK, ESQUIRE FLA. BAR NO. 969796 PETERS ROBERTSON DEMAHY PARSONS MOWERS PASSARO & DRAKE P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner 506 SE 8th Street Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 Telephone: (954) 761-8999

INTRODUCTION

This appeal is from a decision from the First District Court of Appeal.

THE CITY OF HOLLYWOOD and INTERRISK CONCEPTS, INC. will be referred to as the Employer/Servicing Agent, the Petitioners, or individually by name in this brief. The Respondent, ALBERT LOMBARDI, will be referred to as the Respondent, the employee, the Claimant, or by name in this brief.

All references to the record will appear as follows:

[Vol. __, R. _].

STATEMENT OF FONT SIZE

This Brief has been typed in Times New Roman 14.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Judge Henning, of the Circuit Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit, held a hearing on the City of Hollywood's Motion For an Equitable Distribution on April 5, 1995. [Vol. 1, R. 154]. Judge Henning rendered an oral ruling on April 5, 1995 setting the damages at \$250,000, finding the Claimant did not recover the full value of the damages. [Vol. 1, R. 181-182]. At the same time, Counsel for Mr. Lombardi conceded a 25-percent reduction of future benefits after April 5, 1995 "up to \$62,000." [Vol. 1, R. 185]. Subsequently, on October 30, 1995, Judge Henning rendered a written ruling entitling the City of Hollywood to immediate payment of \$10,307.19, and a reduction of future medical and compensation payments made after April 5, 1995 (the date of the hearing) by 25 % in accordance with the lien maintained by the City of Hollywood. [Vol. 1, R. 143-144]. There was no further limitation based on the City of Hollywood's recovery pursuant to its line. [Vol. 1, R. 143-144]. The Circuit Court order was not appealed.

On July 15, 1998, Judge Powell ordered the Employer/Carrier to pay the Claimant a ten percent (10%) penalty and statutory interest of 12% per year on the \$8,478.75 paid on May 12, 1995, with interest payable, as payments were due from December 19, 1994 to May 12, 1995. [Vol. 2, R. 204]. The Judge also ordered payment of supplemental benefits without any offset for service-connected permanent total disability pension or Social Security old-age retirement from May 16, 1995 to the present and continuing, but not exceeding the current maximum weekly compensation rate in any respective year along with statutory interest of 12% per year from May 16, 1995, according to when payments were due, to the time that payment is made, but without penalty. [Vol. 2, R. 204]. Thirdly, the Judge awarded payment of the Claimant's benefits with a twenty-five percent (25%) reduction for the third party lien recovery (as provided in the Circuit Court Judge Henning's Order of October 30, 1995) until \$62,671.00 in benefits had been recouped (in accordance with a concession by counsel for the employer/SA regarding a ceiling, as none was imposed by Judge Henning [Vol. 1, R. 30, 143-144]). Judge Powell ordered the reduction to be taken prior to any <u>Grice</u> offset for the Claimant's pension disability benefits. [Vol. 2, R. 204-205]. Lastly, Judge Powell found entitlement to costs and attorney's fees [Vol. 2, R. 205].

A Motion for Re-Hearing was filed on August 13, 1998 indicating that as a result of the offsets allowed, there was no amount to be paid to the Claimant despite language in the decretal portion of the Order to the contrary. [Vol. 2, R.208]. The Motion further asserted that the <u>Grice</u> offset should apply retroactively. [R. 208]. The Motion for Rehearing was denied and an appeal and cross-appeal ensued.

On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal ruled in favor of the Claimant on practically every issue as the Court found as follows:

- The E/SA should not receive 25% of the Claimant's net tort recovery, but rather a "percentage of the percentage recovered;"
- It was proper for the Judge of Compensation Claims to compel the E/SA to take its reduction for the subrogation lien before the application of the 100 percent average weekly wage (AWW) cap authorized by section 440.20(15), Fla. Stat. (1993), and Escambia County Sheriff's Dept. v.Grice, 692 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1997);
- That the <u>Grice</u> offset should not apply retroactively to payments made after January 1, 1994, thereby precluding the E/SA from recoupment of any overpayments of pension disability and Workers' Compensation made in excess of the AWW;
- That the E/SA should not have been allowed by the JCC to apply the AWW cap so as to reduce workers' compensation payments rather than disability retirement pension benefits;
- That the award of penalties and interest on benefits totaling \$8,478.75 that were paid on May 12, 1995 was appropriate; and
- That the Court declined to consider the issue of attorney's fees and costs based on the JCC's jurisdiction to determine amount. <u>City of Hollywood</u>
 <u>v. Lombardi</u>, 738 So.2d 491 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

The Petitioner, City of Hollywood/InterRisk Concepts, Inc. seeks a reversal of all issues determined adversely to it.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Claimant's accident occurred on September 14, 1993. [Vol. 1, R. 104]. The parties stipulated to a compensation rate of \$425.00. [Vol. 1, R. 104].

At the time of the Pre-Trial Stipulation of January 30, 1997, the Employer/Servicing Agent was paying permanent total disability at the rate of \$318.75 per week. [Vol. 1, R. 105, 107]. The Claimant's Average Weekly Wage is \$783.65. [Vol. 1, R. 11]. In February of 1995, the Claimant received his first regular disability payment for his pension. [Vol. 1, R. 12].

The Claimant got his first pension disability payment on January 23, 1995 which was made for January and part of December in the amount of \$3,638.81. [Vol. 1, R. 41]. The Claimant testified that on February 25, 1995, he received \$2,623.37, which is the amount he has received every month since for his disability pension from the City. [Vol. 1, R. 41-42].

The Servicing Agent paid checks to the City dated May 10, 1995, for a total of \$8,478.75 [Vol. 1, R. 125-126]. The Servicing Agent sent additional checks in the amount of \$850.00 for permanent total benefits, and \$42.50 for supplemental benefits on May 15, 1995 to the Claimant. [Vol. 1, R. 128-129]. A Notice of Denial was filed on February 10, 1997 to a Petition filed by the Claimant dated February 3, 1997 indicating

that the Claimant was already receiving \$319 per week, and that the Employer/Carrier was only taking the 25% lien reduction. [Vol. 1, R. 132-136].

In Circuit Court, Judge Henning found that the Employer/Servicing Agent was entitled to a twenty-five percent (25%) recovery ratio for their lien [Vol. 1, R. 143]. The Judge also found that the total pay-out of compensation benefits made by the Employer/Servicing Agent to the Claimant through December 14, 1994 was in the amount of \$41,228.76. [Vol. 1, R. 143-144]. Judge Henning ordered the Plaintiff to pay \$10,307.19 to the Employer/Servicing Agent and ordered any further compensation or medical payments made after the April 5, 1995 hearing date to be reduced by twenty-five percent (25%) as a result of the lien retained from the time of the hearing on the Motion for Equitable Distribution [Vol. 1, R. 144].

POINTS ON APPEAL

<u>POINT I</u>

THERE IS NO BASIS IN LAW TO REVERSE AN UN-APPEALED ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE REGARDING A LIEN, OR TO LIMIT AN EMPLOYER/CARRIER'S LIEN RECOVERY TO A "PERCENTAGE OF A PERCENTAGE".

POINT II

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS CONTRARY TO FLORIDA LAW BECAUSE IT IMPROPERLY REVERSED THE JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS' FINDING THAT THE EMPLOYER/SERVICING AGENT IS ENTITLED TO A <u>GRICE</u> OFFSET, AS THERE IS NO RECORD EVIDENCE OF A CONTRACT THAT PRECLUDED THE CITY OF HOLLYWOOD FROM TAKING THE <u>GRICE</u> OFFSET.

<u>POINT III</u>

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF A P P E A L T O C O M P E L T H E EMPLOYER/SERVICING AGENT TO TAKE ITS TWENTY-FIVE PERCENT (25%) REDUCTION FOR THE SUBROGATION LIEN PRIOR TO APPLICATION OF THE <u>GRICE</u> OFFSET IN VIOLATION OF THE INTENT OF SECTION 440.39.

POINT IV

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FAILED TO FOLLOW PRECEDENT BY FAILING TO ALLOW THE EMPLOYER/CARRIER CREDIT FOR OVERPAYMENTS MADE BY VIRTUE OF THE <u>GRICE</u> OFFSET FOR PERIODS AFTER DECEMBER 19, 1994.

<u>POINT V</u>

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT TO AFFIRM THE AWARD OF PAYMENT OF PENALTIES AND INTEREST ON THE \$8,478.75 THAT WAS PAID ON MAY 12, 1995 AS THE AWARD VIOLATES THE TWENTY-FIVE PERCENT (25%) REDUCTION PERMITTED BY VIRTUE OF THE EMPLOYER/SERVICING AGENT'S LIEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ORDER.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal made several errors as a matter of law by failing to adhere to the Final Order of the Circuit Court Judge that permitted the Employer/Servicing Agent, the CITY OF HOLLYWOOD/INTERRISK CONCEPTS, INC. to reduce payments of workers' compensation and medical benefits after April 5, 1995 by twenty-five percent as a result of its lien on the Claimant's third party claim.

Not only did the First District Court of Appeal disregard the Circuit Court decision in rendering its ruling finding that somehow the Employer/Servicing Agent was merely entitled to only "a percentage of percentage" of its lien, but such a finding violates Section 440.39(3), Fla. Stat. (1993).

The First District Court of Appeal opined that the Employer/Carrier was somehow only entitled to twenty-five percent of its 25% lien, as opposed to a straight twenty-five percent reduction of future payments as ordered by Judge Henning. The First District Court inserted language into the statute in violation of its powers. In this case, such a ruling may detrimentally affect the City of Hollywood up to approximately \$47,000.00.

Such a ruling on this novel issue, created solely by belated argument of the claimant, is truly a matter of great public importance as it may cost Employers/Carriers

tens of millions of dollars in the future by adhering to such an absurd interpretation of the statute.

The First District Court also erred as a matter of law by failing to allow the Petitioners an offset pursuant to Escambia County Sheriff's Dep't. v. Grice, 692 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1997), as the claimant's receipt of pension disability benefits from the City of Hollywood as well as workers' compensation benefits unquestionably exceeded the claimant's average weekly wage. The <u>Grice</u> case does not make any exceptions that would apply to this case. Furthermore, there is no legal precedent to disallow the City of Hollywood credit for overpayments made that exceeded \$33,000.00 since the law has been well established that any overpayments by an Employer/Carrier since January 1, 1994 is not presumed to be a gratuity.

The second certified question that is before this Court concerns the order in which the Carrier's twenty-five percent lien and the <u>Grice</u> offset should apply. This, too, is a matter of great public importance because the ruling of the First District Court of Appeal applying the lien first would essentially disallow any lien maintained by an Employer/Carrier in similar circumstances since there would effectively be no resultant benefits to an Employer/Carrier by virtue of its lien. Whereas, an application of the <u>Grice</u> offset prior to the application of the twenty-five percent reduction would actually entitle an Employer/Carrier to its appropriate reduction in the payment of benefits. The First District Court of Appeal's ruling that the lien should be applied first followed by the <u>Grice</u> offset amounts to another violation of the <u>res judicata</u> prohibition of overturning the Circuit Court's Final, un-appealed Order . Lastly, since the lien should have applied pursuant to the Circuit Court's ruling for payments after April 5, 1995, the First District Court of Appeal's affirmance of the award of penalties and interest for payments of benefits made after April 5, 1995 is also erroneous.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

THERE IS NO BASIS IN LAW TO REVERSE AN UN-APPEALED ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE REGARDING A LIEN, OR TO LIMIT AN EMPLOYER/CARRIER'S LIEN RECOVERY TO A "PERCENTAGE OF A PERCENTAGE".

The First District Court of Appeal improperly read omitted language into its ruling of §440.39 concerning liens when it reversed the Judge of Compensation Claim order, and effectively overturned the Circuit Court order by placing a ceiling_ of \$15,667.75 on the Employer/Servicing Agent's recovery.

Neither the First District Court of Appeal, nor the claimant should be permitted to change the final decision of the Circuit Court, which was not subject to an appeal. The Circuit Court Judge, Judge Henning, specifically ruled that "any compensation or medical payments made after April 5, 1995 by the Employer/Carrier to be reduced by twenty-five percent (25%) as a result of the lien they retain from the time of the hearing on the Motion for Equitable Distribution, April 5, 1995, forward." [Vol. 1, R. 144]. The adjudication and award of compensation boards or commissions, as well as the judgment of courts, are generally held to be conclusive on the parties as to matters and issues involved within their jurisdictions. <u>See, U.S. Fidelity and Guarantee Co. v. Odoms</u>, 444 So.2d 78 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). Since Judge Henning's Order was never appealed, the

doctrine of res judicata bars the Claimant/Respondent from relief from the judgment of

the Circuit Court. See Id.

As this issue is one of first impression, the First District Court of Appeal certified the following question to this honorable Florida Supreme Court as one of great public importance:

> WHEN THE EMPLOYER/CARRIER IS ENTITLED TO A SUBROGATION LIEN UNDER SECTION 440.39, FLORIDA STATUTES (1993), AND THE CLAIMANT'S NET RECOVERY IN A SETTLEMENT WITH THE THIRD PARTY TORTFEASOR IS LESS THAN 100 PERCENT OF THE CLAIMANT'S TOTAL DAMAGES, SHOULD THE EMPLOYER/CARRIER'S LIEN BE LIMITED TO A PERCENTAGE OF THE PERCENTAGE OF THE NET TORT RECOVERY?

The First District Court of Appeal erred when it found that the ceiling that should apply to the Employer/Carrier's subrogation lien recovery to be \$15,667.75. The Circuit Court Order placed <u>no limitation</u> on the Employer/Carrier's subrogation lien recovery [Vol. 1, R.143-144]. The lack of a ceiling on the Circuit Court's Order was never appealed by the Claimant, and it is entirely inappropriate for the First District Court of Appeal to make such a determination.

There would not be any ceiling, if not for the concession of Counsel for the Employer/Carrier that the Claimant's net tort recovery should act as a limit on the Employer/Servicing Agent's recovery. [Vol. 1, R. 30]. The Judge of Compensation

Claims' finding that the Employer/Carrier would be entitled to receive all of the Claimant's net recovery from his third-party claim is consistent with the Circuit Court order. [Vol. 1, R. 204]. Since the Claimant has not paid the full amount of \$62,671, the Employer/Servicing Agent should be entitled to continue to take the 25% reduction until it recovers all of the Claimant's net recovery. <u>See</u> §440.39(3)(a), Fla. Stat.(1993). If not, the Claimant may receive a windfall of approximately \$47,000!

The majority of the First District Court of Appeal improperly found that <u>res</u> <u>judicata</u> did not apply to this point. However, Justice Benton properly indicated in his dissent that he would affirm the Judge of Compensation Claims' deferral to the Circuit Court's decision of the amount of the third party lien. <u>City of Hollywood v. Lombardi</u>, 738 So.2d 491, 497 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). Judge Benton specifically provided that. . .

> "If the employer or insurance carrier has given written notice of his rights of subrogation to the third-party tortfeasor, and, thereafter, settlement of any such claim or action at law is made, either before or after suit is filed, and the parties fail to agree on the proportion to be paid to each, the circuit court of the county in which the cause of action arose shall determine the amount to be paid to each by such third-party tortfeasor in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (a). §440.39, Fla. Stat. (1993) (emphasis supplied). The statute contemplates a decision by the circuit court which binds the judge of compensation claims. Offsets, adjustments, or 'percentage reductions' must occur, if at all, in circuit court." Lombardi, at 499.

Although the statute was amended in 1989, the legislature's amendment to the statute, only serves to exclude the ambiguous language of comparative negligence under the former version of the statute. [See below and later pages].

Under the former version of the statute, \$440.39(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (1983) the Employer/Carrier would be entitled the right to recover a percentage of the employee's net recovery, subject to the deduction of attorney's fees and costs incurred, in recovering the damages from the third-party tortfeasor, by the employee. The 1983 statute as well as the 1989 statute are silent as to "a percentage of a percentage." The 1983 statute states, in pertinent part:

Upon suit being filed, the employer or the insurance carrier, as the case by be, may file in the suit a notice of payment of compensation and medical benefits to the employee or his dependents, which notice shall constitute a lien upon any judgement or settlement recovered to the extent that the court may determine to be their pro rata share for compensation and medical benefits paid or to be paid under the provisions of this law, less their pro rata share of all court costs expended by the plaintiff in the prosecution of the suit by the plaintiff in the prosecution of the suit including reasonable attorney's fees for the plaintiff's attorney. In determining the employer's or carrier's pro rata share of those costs and attorney's fees, the employer or carrier shall have deducted from its recovery a percentage amount equal to the percentage of the judgment which is for costs and attorney's fees. Subject to this deduction, the employer or carrier shall recover from the judgment, after costs and attorney's fees incurred by the employee or dependent in that suit have been deducted, 100 percent of what it has paid and future benefits to be paid, unless the employee or dependent can demonstrate to the court that he did not recover the full value of damages sustained because

of comparative negligence or because of limits of insurance coverage and collectibility.

The 1993 statute no longer contains the ambiguous language directly above regarding comparative negligence in the amended statute. <u>See</u>, Fla. Stat. §440.39(3)(a)(1993).

In <u>Manfredo v. Employer's Casualty Ins. Co.</u>, 560 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1990), this Court interpreted the statute as asserting that the Employer/Carrier would be able to recover the percentage of the employee's net recovery without a cap until the Employer/Carrier recovers <u>the entire amount of the employee's net recovery</u>. <u>Id</u>.

In interpreting the revised statute in <u>Manfredo</u>, the Supreme Court of Florida explained that it sought to avoid the unfair practice that would be derived from a settlement of a workers' compensation claim. <u>Id.</u> at 1164. As the earlier version of the statute was written, the Court stated that "an employee's comparative negligence could totally eliminate any equitable distribution that the worker's compensation carrier would receive..." <u>Id</u>. Therefore, the Court interpreted §440.39(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (1983) as providing the workers' compensation carrier the right to collect all net funds received from the third-party tortfeasor in order to avoid a windfall to the employee.

Furthermore, the plain meaning of the revised version of §440.39(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993), should be interpreted as affording the workers' compensation carrier the ability to recover all the damages received by an employee from a third-party tortfeasor as there

is no added language in the 1993 version that limits the Employer or Carrier's recovery to a "percentage of a percentage".

It is the court's obligation to construe the various parts of the Act together to achieve a consistent whole. <u>Roberson v. Winn Dixie Stores, Inc.</u>, 669 So.2d 294, 296 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1996). In doing so, the court must construe related statutory provisions in harmony with one another. <u>Id.</u> at 297.

Nothing in §440.39(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993) suggests that the Employer/Carrier would only be limited to a partial subrogation of a Claimant's recovery from a third-party tortfeasor. On the contrary, the statute in its totality reveals that the Employer/Carrier would be entitled to all of the Claimant's net tort recovery, as in <u>Manfredo</u>.

Florida Statute §440.39(3)(a)(1993) provides that:

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