IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE FLORIDA FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Case No. 96,482

CITY OF HOLLYWOOD, et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

ALBERT LOMBARDI,

Respondent.

:

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, ALBERT LOMBARDI

> RICHARD A. SICKING Attorney for Respondent 1313 Ponce de Leon Blvd., #201 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 Telephone (305) 446-3700 Florida Bar No. 073747

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

found) the employer/carrier's subrogation lien amounts to the percentage of what they have paid in the past and what they will pay in the future which is equal to the percentage of the net recovery that the net recovery is the percentage of the full value of damages. (The Circuit Court Judge found that was 25%.) The dissenting Judge in the First District Court of Appeal did not say that the majority was incorrect in its interpretation of §440.39(3)(a), Fla. Stat. Rather, what he said was, that he thought the Circuit Court Judge had found that the employer/carrier was entitled to \$62,671.00 and that there was no ambiguity. Of all of the interpretations that could be made of the Circuit Court Judge's order, that is not one of them. Under that interpretation, the plaintiff's lawyer gets paid in full, the employer/carrier gets the employee/claimant's complete net recovery and the employee/claimant gets nothing. He gets nothing for his pain and suffering. He gets nothing for his lost wages over and above what workers' compensation pays. He gets nothing for loss of consortium or any of the other common law damages, such as loss of earning capacity.

Yet, §440.39(1), Fla. Stat., (1993) provides that the employee may collect both workers' compensation and collect damages from a third-party tortfeasor, subject to subrogation under §440.39(3)(a), Fla. Stat. If the argument of the Petitioners were correct that the employer/carrier gets Lombardi's total net recovery, then §440.39(1), Fla. Stat., has no meaning. What they argue for is not subrogation. They claim they are entitled to take everything from Lombardi that he received, his entire net recovery.

As a matter of law, both under the statute, §440.39(3)(a), Fla. Stat., and paragraphs 2 and 4 of the Circuit Judge's Order, the employer/carrier is only entitled

to a subrogation lien of \$15,667.75. Since Lombardi had already paid them \$10,307.19, they had exactly \$5,360.56 to be burned off at a 25% reduction in future benefits. This amount has long since been burned off. However the employer/carrier continues to take the 25% reduction because it was their contention before the Judge of Compensation Claims, before the First District Court of Appeal, and before this Court, that the meaning of the Circuit Judge's Order was that they could reduce future benefits by 25% until they had recovered the entire amount of the claimant's net recovery of \$62,671. (R. 195.) (Petitioner's Brief 17).

This is not a percentage of a percentage as the statute provides. It is everything that the employee recovered. Under the employer/carrier's argument, the claimant's attorney is paid his attorney's fee, the employer/carrier gets the employee's entire net recovery and the employee gets nothing.

The Circuit Judge's Order does not provide that the employer/carrier is entitled to the entire amount of the employee's net recovery. It provides in paragraph 4 that future benefits could be reduced by 25% as a result of the lien they retained from April 5, 1995, forward. The lien retained was provided for in paragraph 2 of the Order as being 25% of the net recovery. By mathematics, 25% of the net recovery is \$15,667.75, to the employer/carrier and the balance of \$47,003.25 to Lombardi.

The Petitioners' reference to the argument of counsel at the subrogation hearing at page 2, lines 5-7, page 14, lines 21-23 and page 15, lines 1-3 of their initial brief is outside the record. When the transcript was offered by the employer/carrier, the claimant objected as it was incomplete, the parties had already rested and it was only

the argument of counsel anyway. (R. 57-60.) The Judge of Compensation Claims sustained the objection. (R. 60.) The transcript is contained at page 153, et seq., only as a proffer. This argument of the Petitioners should be stricken. Fla. R. App. P. 9.180(h)(3).

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative and this portion of the First District Court of Appeal's decision should be affirmed.

POINT II

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS CONTRARY TO FLORIDA LAW BECAUSE IT IMPROPERLY REVERSED THE JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS' FINDING THAT THE EMPLOYER/SERVICING AGENT IS ENTITLED TO A GRICE OFFSET, AS THERE IS NO RECORD OF A CONTRACT THAT PRECLUDED THE CITY OF HOLLYWOOD FROM TAKING THE GRICE OFFSET.

(Petitioner's Point II)

The Respondent would state Petitioners' Point II a different way:

THE JUDGE OF COMPENSATION CLAIMS WAS INCORRECT IN HOLDING THAT IN COORDINATING WORKERS' COMPENSATION WITH A SERVICE-CONNECTED DISABILITY FOR THE SAME INJURY OVER THE CAP OF 100% OF THE AVERAGE MONTHLY WAGE, THE OFFSET GOES TO THE BENEFIT OF THE EMPLOYER/CARRIER TO REDUCE WORKERS' COMPENSATION TO THE DETRIMENT OF THE PENSION TRUST FUND WHEN:

A. THE PENSION TRUST FUND WAS EMPLOYEE-CONTRIBUTORY;

B.REQUIRING THAT PENSION TRUST FUND PAYMENTS BE PRIMARY IS UNLAWFUL.

A precise way of putting this question is whether this is a *Barragan*⁵ offset or whether it is a Grice⁶ offset. Under Barragan, workers' compensation was primary and the pension payment was secondary. Under Grice, it is just the opposite. The pension fund payment is primary and the workers' compensation payment is secondary. Grice cites Barragan with approval. It does not overrule it. What, then, is the difference between the two cases? In Barragan, there was a city involved and the city's system was employee contributory. In Barragan, the Supreme Court held that §440.21, Fla. Stat., then comes into play which forbids any scheme by which the employer requires the employee to contribute to a fund from which his own benefits are paid. Thus, if the pension fund were primary and workers' compensation were reduced in any way on account of such payments, it would violate the criminal aspects of that statute and, therefore, cannot be done.

In *Grice*, the pension fund was operated by the Florida Retirement System (FRS), not by the employer, which was a county and a compulsory of FRS. The Florida Retirement System is employee non-contributory. §121.071, Fla. Stat. Therefore, in such instance, §440.21, Fla. Stat., would not come into play.

In the present case, the employer is the City of Hollywood and the employees'

Barragan v. City of Miami, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989)

Escambia County Sheriff's Dep't v. Grice, 672 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1997)

pension trust fund was employee contributory and the Judge of Compensation Claims so found. (R. 196.)

On that basis, as a matter of law, this was a *Barragan* offset and not a *Grice* offset. The pension fund was primary and workers' compensation was secondary. Under *Barragan*, workers' compensation was primary and the pension fund was secondary.

The Court should also know that the correctness of *Grice* is being revisited in a case that was certified to the Supreme Court, *City of Clearwater v. Acker*, Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 93,800, in which the briefs of the parties have been filed and the case was argued April 7, 1999. The decision is long awaited.

Depending on whether the Supreme Court decides in *Acker* to revisit *Grice* completely, or only deal with the payment of the supplemental benefit, which the Petitioners in the present case concede, is yet to be determined.

In discussing whether there really is a difference between a *Barragan* offset and a *Grice* offset, the First District Court of Appeal in the decision in *Lombardi* below stated:

We are not convinced that the Florida Supreme Court intended to create two different types of offsets, allowing employer/carriers to reduce different benefits based on the contributors to the particular funds.

City of Hollywood v. Lombardi, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1849, at 1850 (opinion filed August 5, 1999).

Nonetheless, the First District Court of Appeal remanded the cause to the Judge of Compensation Claims to determine whether Lombardi's employment

contract was like the employment in *Barragan* and if it was, that workers' compensation should be primary and the pension payment secondary. Alternatively, the First District Court of Appeal remanded the cause to determine if there were no such contract, then to determine how much of Lombardi's contribution to the pension fund produced how much of his disability benefit.

The Respondent submits that the remand was unnecessary because workers' compensation is primary regardless of whether the employee is required to contribute to the pension fund or not.

It is noteworthy that one of the reasons why *Grice* may be incorrect, is that the Legislative has waived sovereign immunity for governmental employment completely. §440.02(15)(b)1, Fla. Stat. (1993).

Thus, private employment and governmental employment are treated the same.

The Employee Retirement Security Act of 1974 only applies to private employment. It should be clear under 29 U.S.C. §§1001, 1103(c)(1), that it would be unlawful under ERISA for a private employer to make payment from an employee pension trust fund to satisfy his own obligations to pay workers' compensation. Thus, it should appear that the judicial branch of the Florida government not only should not, but cannot, "legislate" a different rule for governmental employment in Florida, since governmental employment is treated the same as private employment insofar as the Florida Workers' Compensation Law is concerned.

In *Barragan v. City of Miami*, 545 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1989), this Court held that a municipal ordinance, which provided for the reduction of workers' compensation

benefits on account of the receipt of disability pension benefits for the same injury, was invalid.

After the repeal of §440.09(4), Fla. Stat., by the Florida Legislature in 1974, the City of Miami continued to offset workers' compensation against disability retirement, under authority of its own City Ordinance. However, the manner in which it did this was reprehensible. The manner of this is described in *Barragan* and its companion cases, *City of Miami v. Gates*, 393 So. 2d. 586 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) [Gates III], *City of Miami v. Gates*, 592 So. 2d 749 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992) [Gates III].

In the case of employees who were permanently totally disabled, the City of Miami paid workers' compensation, but then deducted the amount of workers' compensation paid by the City from the monthly disability pension checks. However, at the end of the year, the City, which was also the administrator of the pension trust, then wrote a check from the pension trust to the City to reimburse the City for the workers' compensation that was paid. This check was equal in the aggregate to the amount that had already been deducted from the employees' pensions. Thus, when all of these Byzantine transactions had been completed, the employees received nothing more than what the amount of their disability pensions would have been without any workers' compensation payments and the City paid no workers' compensation at all. The Third District Court of Appeal clearly stated that the City had misused its employees' pension trust fund to pay the City's statutory obligations to pay workers' compensation benefits. *Gates II* at 587-588.

The Third District Court of Appeal in *Gates II*, condemned the City's conduct.

In *Barragan v. City of Miami*, supra, this Court declared the City's actions unlawful because the employees of the City had to contribute to their own disability pension trust from their weekly payroll checks. This Court concluded that the City of Miami's arrangement violated the criminal provisions of §440.21 of the Florida Statutes, which prohibit an employer from requiring an employee to contribute to his own workers' compensation benefits. This Court held in *Barragan* that under the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, the City did not have the authority to enact an ordinance that conflicted with state law. The Florida statute authorizing an offset had been repealed. It did not matter which way the offset went. *Barragan v. City of Miami*, supra, at 254. The result was the same: an illegal offset. Ibid. The decision became final July 14, 1989. In a subsequent decision, *City of Miami v. Bell*, 634 So. 2d 163 (Fla. 1994), this Court held that the *Barragan* decision operated prospectively.

Barragan stands for essentially two ideas.

The first is that in coordinating benefits between workers' compensation and disability retirement, there is a cap which is the average monthly wage. The Court did not define average monthly wage and this phrase is found no where else in the law. However, it is generally thought that it means the workers' compensation average weekly wage multiplied by 4.3, converting it to a month, since the pension benefits were paid on a monthly basis.

The Court never explained what was the basis for establishing the cap. In both *Barragan* and *Grice* the cap is stated to be 100% of the average monthly wage, which

is the workers' compensation way of calculating salary or earnings. Since the purpose of the salary cap is to restrict the employee from receiving disability benefits from two different sources, both of which are provided by his employer, it does not make sense to say that the cap is only the workers' compensation average weekly wage method of calculating or earnings. Rather, in coordinating both of these benefits, the cap should be either the workers' compensation average weekly wage method of calculating earnings or the pension trust fund method of calculating earnings as used to determine the disability pension benefit, whichever of the two is the greater.

In coordinating workers' compensation with a disability pension for the same injury, in a pension system in which the employee is a contributor, the workers' compensation payments are primary because of §440.21, Fla. Stat., provisions with respect to employee contributions. The pension fund payments would then be secondary.

Wherever the cap came from, it was technically flawed in one respect. If we combine workers' compensation payments for injury with pension payments for the same injury and say that they must be capped at 100%, why did the Court conclude that it was the workers' compensation "average weekly wage" and not the pension "average final compensation"? The Court never discussed this, nor even indicated that it considered that it should be the one or the other. Obviously, in any given case, in some instances the average weekly wage would be higher than the pension average final compensation, but in other cases, it would be just the reverse and in some instances, by chance, they might be the same. That the Court picked one base

calculation to the exclusion of the other, seems to have been overlooked. Both calculations are statutory attempts to define a base amount of what were the employee's earnings, that a disability payment is designed to replace.

The second part of the *Barragan* decision was eminently clear that the workers' compensation payment was primary and that whenever the cap was reached, the workers' compensation benefits were paid in full and any offset went to the benefit of the pension fund.

Workers' compensation benefits are a vested property right. *Florida Forest* and *Park Service v. Strickland*, 18 So. 2d 251 (Fla. 1944).

Pension benefits are also a vested property right upon retirement. *Florida Sheriffs Association v. Dept. of Administration*, 408 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 1981).

In deciding how to coordinate these two vested property rights whenever the combination of the two of them exceeds 100% of either the average weekly wage or the average final compensation, the Court would have to balance those two property rights to produce the most reasonable result, but always keeping in mind the applicability of statutes. Thus, §440.21, Fla. Stat., in the *Barragan* case dictated that workers' compensation would be primary when the employee contributes to his own pension. After *Barragan*, the workers' compensation system knew what it was supposed to do in coordinating workers' compensation with service-connected disability pensions for the same injury. Then, however, came *Escambia County Sheriff's Dept. v. Grice*, 692 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1997).

In Grice, the employer was Escambia County and the employee, Thomas

Grice, was a deputy sheriff. Counties are compulsory members of the Florida Retirement System (FRS) provided for in Chapter 121. The Florida Retirement System under Chapter 121 is not employee-contributory. §121.071, Fla. Stat. Therefore, §440.21, Fla. Stat., relied upon by the Court in *Barragan* would not apply. In *Grice* this Court reaffirmed its holding in *Barragan* that the cap is 100% of the average monthly wage. Again, it was not argued, and the Court seems not to have considered, that the cap should have been either the "average final compensation" as defined in the Florida Retirement System, §121.24, Fla. Stat., or the average weekly wage as defined in §440.14, Fla. Stat., whichever is the higher.

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